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In Minnesota, brewing began in St. Paul, and St. Paul

would dominate the state’s beer production.  Most St. Paul

brewers were German immigrants who started their busi-

nesses soon after arriving.  One of these immigrants,

Anthony Yoerg, opened the first brewery in St. Paul in

1848 (a year before Minnesota became a territory).

Although he initially located on the east side of downtown,

in 1871, Yoerg moved his brewery to the west side bluffs at

Ohio Street, two blocks south of what is Water Street today.

Here he built a large stone brewery and excavated nearly a

mile of caves for cooling his beer.  

Determined to become a major brewer, he designed a

Nationally, Americans had been making beer since the

colonial era, but production took off in the mid-1800s, and

the number of breweries increased around the country.

After pasteurization was perfected in 1875, bottled beer

became popular and beer bottling a common industry.  By

1900 refrigerated railcars allowed brewers to distribute

their beer widely.44

FIGURE 8.  Cattle pen, South St. Paul Stockyards, 1930. Photo by Peter

Schawang. Minnesota Historical Society. By this time, four of the nation’s

five leading meat-packing companies had lcoated at the stockyards.
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Hamm began his career at Phalen Creek.  The creek,

with its sandstone cliffs and once fresh water, became home

to at least four breweries.  One of the four, the Pittsburgh

Brewery, started in 1860 by Andrew T. Keller, was on the

east bank, at the intersection of Greenbrier and Minnehaha.

Four years later Keller sold it to Hamm, who would make it

into the largest brewery west of Chicago.  By 1878 Hamm

had boosted production from 500 barrels per year to

5,000.  By 1882 the plant’s output had jumped to 26,000

barrels.  In 1903, after his father’s death, William Hamm

ran the brewery until his own death in 1931.  Under

William Hamm, the brewery became a national leader.49

Christopher Stahlman, who opened his Cave Brewery

on July 5, 1855, excavated one of the most elaborate stor-

age systems on the river.  Locating his brewery on Fort

Road, at the far west end of the city at that time, he excavat-

ed three levels of caves a mile deep into the sandstone

bluffs.  Having come to St. Paul with only a few dollars, he

created what would become, from at least 1876 to 1879,

the largest brewery in the state.  By the mid-1880s he was

producing 40,000 barrels per year but had fallen behind

Hamm and others.  Stahlman died of tuberculosis in 1883,

and by 1894 all three sons, who had taken over the busi-

ness, succumbed to it as well.  As a result, the brewery went

bankrupt in 1897.  Another firm owned it for three years,

and then the Jacob Schmidt Company–formerly the North

Star Brewery–bought it in 1900.50

Schmidt did not found the North Star Brewery but

would make it into a nationally recognized company.  The

North Star Brewery was the third company to begin in

1855.  Two men, named Drewery and Scotten, opened it in

two small buildings and used a cave at Daytons Bluff.  In

1879 Reinhold Koch took control and built the company

into the second largest brewery west of Chicago by the

1880s, but in 1884 Schmidt bought out Koch.  Fifteen

years later Schmidt changed the name to the Jacob Schmidt

Brewing Company.  When the plant burned in 1900,

Schmidt moved to the Stahlman facility, which he complete-

ly renovated and expanded.  The new brewery could produce

steam-powered plant capable of producing 50 barrels per day.

He was selling 20,000 barrels per year by 1881 and 35,000

by 1891, making him one of the state’s largest brewers.

Using the label “Yoerg’s Cave Aged Beer,” Yoerg’s successors

kept the business going through all the depressions and

through Prohibition (1919 to 1933).  Not until 1952 did

the brewery close.  The only remains as of 1981 were the

brewery’s cave and foundation at the bottom of Ohio Street.45

In 1853 Martin Bruggermann established what was

probably the second brewery in St. Paul, in a house near the

intersection of Smith and Kellogg Boulevard.  After the

brewery burned, he moved to Sixth and Pleasant, where he

built a stone building.  Then, in 1872, he moved to the west

side bluffs near Wabasha Street, just 150 yards from Yoerg.

For more than 25 years he made beer at this site and stored

it in caves excavated into the bluff.  In 1900 he sold the

brewery, and in 1905 it closed.  As with Yoerg’s brewery, the

principal remnants of Bruggermann’s plant are the caves.46

Another brewery, called the North Mississippi

Company, opened in 1853.  Built on top of the bluffs near

present-day Shepard Road and Drake Street in the West

Seventh Street neighborhood, it was destroyed by fire.

Frederick and William Banholzer reconstructed it, and made

it into one of the more successful breweries in St. Paul by

the 1880s.  The Banholzers dug caves that extended a half-

mile deep and had many chambers.  But within a year after

William died, in 1897, the business closed.47

Three more breweries opened in St. Paul in 1855, two

of which would give birth to the state’s largest breweries

and to nationally recognized beers.  Until purchased by

Frederick Emmert in 1866, the City Brewery, near Eagle and

Exchange Streets in Uppertown, remained a small operation.

By the 1880s, however, Emmert built it into a well-known

brewery capable of producing 6,000 barrels per year.  He

used a nearby sandstone hill for storage.  Emmert died in

1889 and left the business to his sons.  They had different

interests, however, and sold the brewery to Theodore Hamm

in 1901.  Happy to be rid of a competitor, Hamm used the

old brewery for storage.48



200,000 barrels per year.  Jacob Schmidt died in 1911 and

left the business to his daughter, Maria, and his son-in-law,

Adolph Bremer.  Bremer’s brother, Otto, an executive with

the National German American Bank of St. Paul, joined the

company shortly after.  When Adolf died in 1939, Otto ran

the company until 1951 and then sold it to the Pfeiffer

Brewing Company.  Other breweries existed in St. Paul at

various times, but those discussed above were among the

most important.51

Minneapolis had a dozen breweries near the riverfront

by the late nineteenth century.  Built in 1850, John Orth’s

brewery was the first and was located where the old Grain

Belt Brewery now stands.  By 1880 Minneapolis counted

four breweries.  Two operated on the west side river flats, or

Bohemian Flats, near the University of Minnesota’s West

Bank.  “These two breweries,” says archaeologist Scott

Anfinson, “dominated the landscape of the river flats into

the early twentieth century.” Both employed people living

in Bohemian Flats.  Orth’s Brewery and the Germania
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FIGURE 9.  Meuller and

Heinrick’s Brewery, at

lower levee at foot of

Fourth Street,

Minneapolis, 1880.

Minnesota Historical

Society. 

Brewery were the other two breweries in Minneapolis.  In

1891 the four companies merged to form the Minneapolis

Brewing and Malting Company, which the next year built

the Grain Belt Brewery.52 (Figure 9)

Prohibition and consolidation led to a dramatic

decline in the number of breweries in Minnesota.  In 1900

the state had 50 fewer breweries than it did 20 years earli-

er, and by the start of Prohibition in 1919, only 51 brew-

eries remained (down from the 112 in 1887).  The Steffan-

Kuenzel Brewery in Hastings became a casualty of

Prohibition.  Founded in 1885 on Ramsey Street on the

levee, it operated up to 1919.  The brewers who survived

Prohibition did so by bottling pop and other drinks.53

Brewing sites are important for the local and national

stories they represent.  The history of brewing involves the

stories of early immigrants, particularly Germans, and how

their ethnic origins influenced the development of beer

making.  This history leads into the political and social

aspects of Prohibition nationally and locally.  Many German

immigrants chose the Democratic Party for its stance

against Prohibition.  Caves that once stored beer became

hideouts for illicit clubs, defying Prohibition.  



R
IV

E
R

 O
F

 H
IS

T
O

R
Y

:
A

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 S
tu

dy
 o

f t
he

 M
is

si
ss

ip
pi

 N
at

io
na

l R
iv

er
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

at
io

n 
A

re
a

154

passengers and freight, which were essential if steamboats

hoped to compete with railroads.  While some steamboats

may have paddled on the river above St. Anthony after

1881, not many did so and they did not last long.56

Ferries • Even after railroads expanded through the MNRRA

corridor, ferries provided the primary way across the

Mississippi River until bridges were built.  Entrepreneurs

began operating ferries at the earliest settlements.  Lt. E. K.

Smith’s map of the Ft. Snelling area in 1837 and 1838

shows Brown’s Ferry running from Camp Coldwater to

Brown’s grog shop across the river.  In the fall of 1848 or

spring of 1849, Antoine Robert, who owned the fur trade

post at the mouth of the Rum River, established a rowboat

ferry at Anoka.  Antoine’s brother, Louis Robert, later

acquired the Rum River post and began running a swing

Although little has been written about it, natural and

human-made caves also have been used to store cheese and

grow mushrooms.  The cool, dark cave climate was ideal for

both of these products, as well as beer.54

Transportation and Economic
Development
Transportation modes often determined the nature and

extent of business development in the MNRRA corridor and

the relationship of the river’s communities to the

Mississippi River.  Fur traders used canoes, piroques and

keelboats and depended upon the Mississippi and its tribu-

taries to receive their trade goods and take furs out.  The

craft traveled almost as easily above the St. Anthony Falls as

below it.  Fur traders located their posts near the river, to

limit how far they had to carry their goods and furs.  As

cities in the area grew and as the area’s transportation sys-

tem evolved, new transportation systems replaced the river

and fewer and fewer people considered the Mississippi cen-

tral to their lives.

Steamboats maintained the corridor’s tie to the river.

Although few in number, steamboats plied the river above

the falls.  By the summer of 1849, an American Fur

Company steamboat worked above falls.  It made several

trips delivering flour to the company’s post upriver but also

carried passengers and supplies.  In May of 1850, another

steamboat, the Governor Ramsey, completed a voyage to Sauk

Rapids.  Possibly on this voyage, the steamer carried settlers

to Itasca Village (later Ramsey), which would establish a

steamboat landing.  In 1855 low water stranded the steam-

boat H. M. Rice at Anoka, and the town temporarily used it

for church services.55

Railroads replaced steamboats more quickly above the

falls than below.  By 1881 steamboat navigation above the

falls had become irregular, at best.  This was undoubtedly

because the river above the falls was often shallow and

received little navigation improvement work.  And other

than Minneapolis, steamers operating above the falls did not

have access to large ports from which to acquire and deliver
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Wabasha Street Bridge opened.  John Goodspeed started a

ferry at Fridley by 1854, and the Truax and Anderson ferry

ran from 1883 to 1887 at St. Paul Park.  In the latter year,

the Rock Island Railway Company built a combined railroad

and pedestrian bridge over the Mississippi at St. Paul Park,

ending the ferry’s service.57

Ferries at both ends of the MNRRA corridor lasted up to

the end of nineteenth century.  One of the earliest and

longest lasting ferries operated at Hastings.  Started in 1854

by William Felton, it brought Wisconsin farmers and their

produce to the growing storage and shipping facilities at

Hastings.  The ferry remained active until the Spiral Bridge

was built in 1895.  One of the last ferries in the MNRRA

corridor may have been at Dayton.  It is the only ferry indi-

cated on the Mississippi River Commission map that

includes Dayton, which dates to 1898.  Ferries helped pro-

long direct contact with the river, but the increasing number

of roads and railroads would begin drawing people away.58

(Figure 10)

Roads • The U.S. government built the first wagon road

through the MNRRA corridor, after Congress approved

$40,000 for military roads in the Minnesota Territory in

about 1850.  One road, which ran from Point Douglas, at

the St. Croix River’s mouth, along the east bank to Fort

Ripley, received $10,000.  The road traveled the entire

length of the MNRRA corridor.  James Simpson conducted

the survey for The Military Road, as most people called it, in

1851, and the federal government started construction the

next year.  In 1852 the builders pushed the road to Itasca

Village (Ramsey).  The Red River Oxcarts quickly employed it

in their journey between the Twin Cities and the Red River

Valley.  In 1855 some 300 oxcarts passed over the road on

their way to St. Paul.  Other military roads constructed in

the 1850s included the Mendota–Wabasha Road (St. Paul to

La Crosse Road) and the Ellis and Hastings Road.59

The Topographical Engineers, a branch that temporari-

ly split from the Corps of Engineers in 1831, surveyed and

built the military roads.  To cross streams and rivers, they

ferry big enough to carry a team of horses or oxen across the

Rum.  One of his largest customers was Borup & Oakes,

who sent their Red River Oxcart supply trains across the

river. On September 11, 1855, the Elm Creek and Anoka

Ferry Company made its first trip.  

Several well-known Minnesota pioneers received grants

to run ferries in St. Paul in 1850.  James M. and Isaac N.

Goodhue acquired charters to run a ferry at the lower land-

ing, and John R. Irvine won a charter to operate one from

the upper landing.  Daniel F. Brawley also received a charter

to operate a ferry from the upper levee to West St. Paul in

1852.  The ferries plied the river until 1859, when the

FIGURE 10.  Point Douglas Ferry, about four miles south of Hastings,

1902. Minnesota Historical Society. This was one of the earliest and

longest running ferries in the MNRRA corridor. 
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Twin Cities, and in 1870 the Minnesota Central Railway

Company opened a line also running through southern

Minnesota connecting the Twin Cities with Chicago via a

line through Iowa.63

By 1900 railroads linked the Twin Cities to much of

Minnesota and most of the nation. Two transcontinental

lines crossed Minnesota before 1900.  On September 8,

1888, the Northern Pacific finished the first transcontinen-

tal railroad, running through Minnesota from Moorhead to

the Twin Cities.  In June 1893 the St. Paul, Minneapolis and

Manitoba opened the second transcontinental railroad.  The

new railroad connected Minneapolis and St. Paul to Seattle,

Great Falls, Grand Forks, and other cities.64

The 1895 and 1898 Mississippi River Commission

maps clearly reveal the extent to which railroads had taken

over lands near the river in St. Paul and Minneapolis.  From

Minneapolis north to Ramsey, the Northern Pacific and the

Great Northern Railroads ran parallel to each other along the

east side.  The railroad tracks lay, for the most part, outside

the MNRRA corridor.  On the west side, from the mouth of

Shingle Creek in north Minneapolis up to Dayton, no rail-

roads ran near the river.  Beginning in north Minneapolis,

however, railroads began to converge on the milling district.

They included the St. Paul and Duluth; Minneapolis, St. Paul

and Sault Ste. Marie; Great Northern; Northern Pacific; and

Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul (short line).  Large railroad

yards lay on the west side just above Nicollet Island and

across from the Lower Lock and Dam.  The railroad lines dis-

persed below St. Anthony but converged again in  St. Paul.

The railroads crowding into St. Paul included the Chicago,

Burlington & Northern; Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul;

Chicago Great Western; and Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis &

Omaha.  Near the mouth of Phalen Creek, a huge railroad

yard occupied the creek’s former valley. 

Downriver from St. Paul, the railroads fanned out.  The

Chicago Great Western Railroad crossed under the Robert

Street Bridge, over the Mississippi and ran below the west

side bluffs past South St. Paul, until coursing away from the

river to the west above Pine Bend.  The Chicago, Milwaukee,

erected some of the first bridges in the MNRRA corridor.  In

1852 they built bridges over Coon and Rice Creeks and one

over the Rum River at the current location of the Main

Street Bridge in Anoka.  As soon as the government made

the crossing site known, plans for the town began.60 At

Cottage Grove, the military road also influenced the devel-

opment of the town.  “Old Cottage Grove Village,” states

Vogel, “grew up where the Military Road crossed the trail

leading from Grey Cloud Island to Stillwater.”61 The govern-

ment erected the first bridge across the Vermillion River, a

covered bridge, in 1856.  The bridge remained in use until

1888 and was replaced in 1898.62

Roads and bridges began the process of taking people

away from the Mississippi River.  While the early roads par-

alleled the river, they were often far enough back that the

sights and sounds of the river faded.  Hotels and stores

began locating along the roads, not the river.  Bridges carried

people over the river; no longer did they have to get down by

it so they could touch and smell it. 

Railroads • Railroads transformed the MNRRA corridor and

its inhabitants’ relationship to the Mississippi most dramat-

ically.  Railroad development in Minnesota provides a good

example of the speed and coverage with which railroads

expanded in the Midwest.  On June 28, 1862, crowded with

local dignitaries, Minnesota’s the first train steamed along

the first railroad from St. Paul to St. Anthony.  Only a year

and one-half later, on December 6, the St. Paul and Pacific

reached Fridley and six days later Anoka.  By the end of the

Civil War, railroads had laid tracks from Minneapolis 50

miles southward toward Fairbault.  By the beginning of the

next decade, lines extended outward from Minneapolis some

65 miles northwest to St. Cloud and more than 125 miles

to west Benson.  A line begun in 1868 and completed in

1870 connected the Twin Cities and Duluth, providing

another outlet to the Atlantic Ocean.  Railroads made two

important connections with Chicago.  In 1868 the

Milwaukee and St. Paul completed a line from Chicago

through Prairie du Chien and southern Minnesota to the
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Between 1875 and 1920, St. Paul became a “Rail

City.” Railroads and the facilities and businesses built to

accommodate them dominated riverfront development.

“Rails,” Hesterman asserts, “dictated industrial location,

and industrial development within the river valley often

had more to do with the railroads than the river.”68 The

same held for commercial development.  “By 1920,”

Hesterman concludes, “the river probably was less impor-

tant to St. Paul than at any time before or since. . . . the

riverfront that once had been the vibrant heart of the city

had become the back alley of rail depots and rail-oriented

industries, crowded by trackage, inaccessible and undesir-

able.  Pollution made the river itself offensive to the eye and

nose.”69 To varying degrees, the same can be said for many

towns in the corridor.

Railroads took over the floodplain in St. Paul, because

of the floodplain’s low, even grade.  Railroads began build-

ing into the wetland created by the mouths of Phalen Creek

and Trout Brook as early as the 1860s, where nearly 200

years earlier the Dakota had landed with Hennepin and his

French companions.  Railroads steadily filled in the wetland

and pushed the Mississippi riverbank outward.  They cut

back Daytons Bluff to make more room for tracks, destroy-

ing much of Carver’s Cave.  The lower landing became a rail-

road terminal, and the Union Depot was built and rebuilt in

1880, 1884 and 1915.  The Minnesota Valley Railroad laid

tracks in the floodplain at the upper landing and businesses

began building around it.  Between the upper and lower

landing, the bluff bulged out toward the river, separating

the two.  So the railroads cut the bluff back and filled in

toward the river.  Other railroads built up and down the val-

ley, filling more of the floodplain and further shaving back

the bluffs.70 (Figure 11)

Overall, some of the most dramatic landscape changes

in the MNRRA corridor have occurred at St. Paul.  By the

early 1900s, railroads had already altered the old riverbed,

the bluffs, and the original streams that flowed into the

Mississippi.  During the 1920s and 1930s, the city began

developing Holman Field on Lamprey Lake, which had been

and St. Paul and the Chicago, Burlington & Northern rail-

roads left the railyard in downtown St. Paul, side by side,

until diverging at Newport.  The Chicago, Burlington &

Northern continued along the east side bluff.  The two rail-

roads converged again several miles above Hastings.  But

opposite Hastings, the Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul

crossed into the city and headed downriver on the west side.

The Chicago, Burlington & Northern continued down the

west as well.  From the Minnesota River into St. Paul and then

downriver to Hastings, railroads that ran in the floodplain

and near the bluffs were in what is now the MNRRA corridor.

Overall, railroads altered the corridor’s physical character lit-

tle outside the milling district and downtown St. Paul.65

Railroads quickly undermined the river’s importance

for transportation.  Towns began growing up around their

rail connections rather than their tie to the river.  Symbolic

of this change, Fridley is named Fridley Park Station on the

1898 Mississippi River Commission map and was immedi-

ately adjacent to the Great Northern and Northern Pacific

Railroad.66

Paul Hesterman, in “The Mississippi and St. Paul,” pro-

vides the most comprehensive description of railroad expan-

sion and its impact on the economy of a city in the MNRRA

corridor.  He also examines the effect of railroads on the

city’s landscape and its relationship to the river.  Overall,

Hesterman offers a model that could be used for other cities

in the corridor.67

St. Paul, like most cities, encouraged and promoted rail-

road development, which hastened the river’s demise as a

central element in the city’s success and identity.  St. Paul

sold bonds to subsidize early rail development.  As railroads

filled in the floodplain and located their tracks and stations

there, warehouse and transfer businesses quickly followed.

Facilities built by James J. Hill and steamboat magnate

Commodore William Davidson relied on steamboat traffic,

but as railroads captured the passengers and commodities

once carried on steamboats, the warehouses, transfer build-

ings and other businesses located along the railroads had lit-

tle to do with the river.
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example, persuaded the Ford Motor Company to locate

above Lock and Dam No. 1 by yielding its claim to hydro-

electric power to the company.71

The completion of Lock and Dam No. 2 at Hastings,

followed by the opening of the entire nine-foot channel

below St. Paul in 1940, also transformed the city’s land-

scape.  While railroads had kicked river-related activities

out of the St. Paul riverfront, the 9-foot channel brought

one of the river’s largest backwaters in the metropolitan

area.  Although the field still floods during high water, the

ecosystem qualities have largely disappeared.  A high levee

system has barred the river from the rest of its floodplain

across from downtown St. Paul.  The city built Shepard and

Warner Roads out into the riverbed, continuing the process

begun by early railroads and settlers.  And St. Paul constant-

ly supported business development in the floodplain.

Public subsidies, as much as economic demand, Hesterman

asserts, are responsible for the development of the St. Paul

riverfront.  Economic interests, he stresses, had used the

city government as a tool  to transform the riverfront since

the city’s beginnings, and not just downtown.  The city, for

FIGURE 11.  Railroads and low water undermined the Mississippi River

as a commercial navigation route before locks and dams. Taken in 1931,

this photograph captures the river immediately prior to the flooding of

Pool 2. Photo by St. Paul Daily News. Minnesota Historical Society.
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metropolis, which had covered about 50 square miles.  The

metropolitan area’s growing population and surging

reliance on cars and trucks meant the road system had to

expand dramatically.  Freeway construction began in the

1950s.  Once the focus of the area’s residents, the river had

become lost in a landscape it gave birth to.  As the metropol-

itan population grew, houses, businesses and roads crept

into more and more of the land within the MNRRA corridor.

Less and less land remained or appeared natural.75

Bridges • As communities in the MNRRA corridor expanded

on the early military roads and as railroads pushed lines

through the valley, a growing number of bridges spanned

the Mississippi River.  Bridges changed the flow of traffic

and commerce for the communities they connected and

influenced the transportation patterns, demography and

economy of the area.

The Mississippi River Commission maps show the

nature and extent of bridges across the Mississippi by the

end of the nineteenth century.  Bridges followed the settle-

ment pattern.  From the Minneapolis city limits down to St.

Paul, 20 bridges stitched the riverbanks together, equally

divided between railroad and wagon bridges.  From north to

south, the wagon bridges included those at Twentieth,

Plymouth, Hennepin, Tenth, Washington, Franklin, Lake,

Smith (High), Wabasha and Robert.  The railroad bridges

served a number of different lines.

Only three bridges crossed the Mississippi below the

Robert Street Bridge down to Hastings.  An 1887 railroad

swing bridge crossed from near Inver Grove Heights to just

below Newport.  This bridge also served pedestrians.  The

remaining two bridges jumped the river at Hastings.  One was

a railroad bridge and the other the famous spiral bridge.76

No bridges spanned the Mississippi River between the

Twentieth Avenue Bridge in Minneapolis and the Ferry

Street Bridge in Anoka (Figure 12).  As the Ferry Street

Bridge is at about river mile 871.5 and the Twentieth

Avenue Bridge is near river mile 855.5, no bridge was avail-

able for a distance of some 16 miles.  Above Anoka, only

them back.  Large terminals, like Terminal No. 1, Red Rock

and Southport, have restored St. Paul’s navigation heritage.

Barge fleeting and repair operations along the downtown

riverbanks clearly characterize St. Paul as a river town in

ways that harken back to the steamboat days.72

Streetcars to Cars and Trucks • Commuter trains, streetcars

and trolleys began running through the MNRRA corridor in

the early twentieth century, redefining the spatial relation-

ship between work and home and between people and the

river. They promoted urban and suburban expansion away

from central cities and away from the river.  Businesses and

neighborhoods began locating along the lines. 

By the early 1900s, the Twin Cities possessed “One of

the nations’ model streetcar systems  . . . ”73 The Lower

Hydro Station below St. Anthony Falls, completed in 1897,

helped this happen, by providing electricity to the streetcars

of the Twin City Rapid Transit Company.  In 1913 a street-

car company completed tracks up to the Coon Rapids Dam,

supplying workers and materials for the dam’s construction.

Although the cars initially ran on gas engines, by 1914 the

company converted to electricity and pushed the line to

Anoka.  The streetcars ran regularly until about 1939.  Also

in 1914, the St. Paul Southern Electric Railway completed

tracks to Hastings.  The train ran from Hastings, through

Pine Bend and Inver Grove, to St. Paul in about an hour.  By

the 1920s, however, cars and trucks began replacing street-

cars, horses, buggies, and wagons.  As World War II started,

only the Twin Cities still operated their streetcars.74

Cars and trucks accelerated urban and suburban expan-

sion away from the river.  The Great Depression delayed the

impact of automobiles, but when a new economic boom

began in 1946, most households acquired cars.  Automobile

registrations grew from some 2,500 in 1905 to about

747,000 in 1940 and 2.4 million in 1983.  After 1950

the suburbs and businesses outside the city center began to

mature.  Between 1920 and 1970 the urban population

grew from about 840,000 to nearly two million.  By 1980

an 800-square-mile outer city surrounded the pre-1920
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the ferry at Ramsey provided a way across the Mississippi.77

People in Minneapolis and St. Paul did not have to travel far

to cross the river, although going on foot, by horse or in a

wagon was not so quick as today.  Above or below the Twin

Cities, they had a long journey, unless they lived near one of

the few bridges in these reaches.

Residents of Nininger devised one of the most creative

bridges.  According to the Emigrant Aid Journal of February

10, 1858, men from the town cut out a slab of ice nearly

one- half acre in size and floated it down to their crossing

site, where they lodged it against opposing banks.  The

bridge allowed loggers to cut wood on an island near

Nininger and stack it along the bank to sell to steamboats

the next spring.78

Many bridges merit

individual discussion and

are National Register listed

or eligible.  Many are gone,

like the Hastings Spiral

Bridge, the original High

Bridge and the first bridge

over the Mississippi River,

the suspension bridge erect-

ed by Minneapolis and St.

Anthony in 1854.  The High

Bridge opened in 1888 and

was replaced in 1987.  The

Carnegie Keystone Bridge

Company delivered the origi-

nal High Bridge in one mil-

lion pieces, with a 388-page

manual.  In 1859 the

Wabasha Bridge became the

first to cross the Mississippi

from St. Paul to Dakota

County.   Fortunately, not all

the historic bridges are gone.

The original Robert Street

Bridge was completed in

1885 and replaced in 1926 by the now historic, arched,

Robert Street Bridge.  That same year another concrete arch

bridge–the Mendota Bridge–opened.  It was, at 4,119 feet,

the longest concrete arch bridge in the world.79

Summary
One goal of this chapter was to provide the context in

which businesses developed in the MNRRA corridor, rather
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than to produce a list of all the different businesses.

Another goal was to show how transportation affected the

relationship of businesses and the area’s residents to the

river. Each new transportation method redefined that rela-

tionship.  Navigation interests, railroads and road builders

all transformed the river or its valley to accommodate their

ends.  Urban population growth, tied to these evolving

transportation systems, meant that a smaller and smaller

percentage of the metropolitan area’s inhabitants thought

about the river during their daily activities.  Today, howev-

er, more and more people recognize the many amenities the

Mississippi offers and are coming back to the river.  They

are interested in the river’s history, its role in the develop-

ment of the metropolitan area, and the businesses and

transportation systems that underlay the area’s evolution.

They are looking for transportation routes that take them to

the river, rather than away from it.

FIGURE 12.  Mississippi River Bridge at Anoka, Minnesota, 1905.

Minnesota Historical Society. Ferries remained important longer at the

MNRRA corridor’s southern and northern ends, where few bridges existed.  



FIGURE 1. Urban river.  Minneapolis skyline over the Mississippi River gorge. 
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T
his chapter focuses on the process of urban

growth in the MNRRA corridor, examining

what towns began where, when and why.  It

discusses residential settlement patterns but does not detail

the commercial and industrial patterns that formed the eco-

nomic basis for population expansion and contraction.1

This is not a history of every community, every riverfront

neighborhood, along the MNRRA corridor, and it is not an

academic urban history.  Urban history in the MNRRA corri-

dor is intimately tied to the history presented in foregoing

chapters.  Geology and geography, the Native American pres-

ence, exploration and early military objectives, navigation

improvements and economic activities all played a role in

determining where towns located, how fast they grew, how

they related to the river and how that relation changed over

time. The information presented here draws on those sto-

ries. (Figure 1.)

Town formation in the MNRRA corridor began soon

after settlers came to the upper Mississippi valley in the

early 1800s.  Between 1820 and 1945 dozens of settle-

ments grew up in the MNRRA corridor.  Today, these com-

munities can be understood as having evolved in one of

three patterns: towns and cities that formed in the nine-

teenth century and have endured as distinct urban areas (for

example, Minneapolis, St. Paul, Hastings, Anoka, and South

St. Paul); nineteenth century settlements that stagnated for a

time and then grew up as suburbs in the expanding metro-

politan area (such as Mendota, Fridley, Champlin, and

Cottage Grove); and urban areas that formed in the subur-

ban expansion following World War II (for example, Coon

Rapids and St. Paul Park).

The present municipalities in the MNRRA corridor are

listed in Table 8.1, according to the pattern in which they

formed. The first column includes cities that established a

central economic and population presence in the nineteenth

century (all but one, South St. Paul, pre-date the railroad

era) and have maintained a distinct downtown commercial

district and sense of “municipal place” throughout the

twentieth century.  The second column includes population

centers that reached a peak of regional importance in the

nineteenth century, went through a period of stagnation but

retain a distinctive “municipal place” in the greater metro-

politan region today.  Despite their spatial and political

independence today, these communities exist largely as sub-

urbs within the larger region.  The third column is the most

heterogeneous collection.  Generally, it includes places that

achieved a substantial population and regional presence

only after World War II and the subsequent suburban trans-

formation of much of the MNRRA corridor.  Most were

farming areas, organized as townships.  However, this

grouping also includes the township of Nininger, which had

a brief but memorable life as a distinct community.2

Chapter  8

Settlement and Urban Residential Development

Along the River, 1841-1950

Patrick Nunnally • University of Minnesota
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The formation and

development of towns in

the MNRRA corridor fits

roughly into three periods,

defined by transportation

modes—river, railroad and

automobile—and the con-

comitant patterns of urban

settlement.  During the era

of river transportation,

towns developed at many

places throughout the cor-

ridor. Between 1841,

when St. Paul was estab-

lished, and 1862, when

the railroad connected St.

Paul and Minneapolis,

there were probably more

named towns than at any

other time.  As railroads

expanded, some towns

blossomed into railroad

hubs and others withered

when the railroads

bypassed them.  During

the last four decades of the

nineteenth century, both

St. Paul and Minneapolis

witnessed spectacular pop-

ulation leaps, as they

became regional railroad

centers.  By the end of

World War II, railroads

had peaked, and automo-

bile use, which had begun

as early as the 1920s,

boomed in the post-war

years.  This gave rise to

expanded metropolitan

areas that engulfed previous small towns such as Anoka,

melding them to the suburban network around Minneapolis

and St. Paul.  A parallel development is the creation of post-

war suburbs on land that had previously been agricultural.

Cities are made up of numerous communities, and St.

Paul and Minneapolis have long had communities along

their riverfronts.  Even as the cities grew in size and area,

until they merged into a modern metropolitan region, peo-

ple lived in small communities along the river.  Some of

these, such as the Upper Levee and the West Side Flats in St.

Paul and the Bohemian Flats area of Minneapolis, were

neighborhoods of squatters and others living on the mar-

gins of society, in the poorest, most flood prone, and least

desirable areas of the riverfront.  Other neighborhoods,

notably the Highwood section of St. Paul, were designed as

picturesque suburbs full of curving streets and with a rail

connection to the city.  Finally, there are residential areas

within the study corridor, such as the Macalester-

Groveland/Highland Park neighborhoods in St. Paul, where

development has seemingly had little to do with the river.

River Transportation Era (1820-1862)
This section describes the principal population centers dur-

ing the period that the river dominated transportation and

follows with a brief account of settlement patterns in the

corridor outside the population centers.  The relation of

towns to the river varied markedly, depending on their loca-

tion.  Above St. Paul and especially above St. Anthony Falls,

the river was not widely used for commercial navigation,

although small steamboats plied the river above

Minneapolis during the mid to late nineteenth century.

Each community, however, depended on the river, whether

to transport people, goods, or raw materials, such as lumber.

Writing in 1893 about St. Anthony, Isaac Atwater could

have been speaking for any community in the region prior

to the mid-1860s when he stated, “it is interesting now to

recall how the river then dominated the town.  It was every-

thing.  Every enterprise depended for its vitality on what

the river could do for it.”3

Table 8.1  

URBAN CENTERS

Enduring Urban Centers

Anoka
Hastings

Minneapolis
St. Paul

South St. Paul

19th Century 
Population

Centers that are 
now suburbs 

within the 
metropolitan area

Dayton
Champlin

Cottage Grove
Fridley

Mendota
Newport

Richfield*

Population Centers that 
emerged in the 20th 

century (some may have 
briefly been population 
centers, then declined)

Brooklyn Center
Brooklyn Park
Coon Rapids

Crystal*
Denmark Township

Grey Cloud Township
Inver Grove Heights

Lilydale
Maplewood

Mendota Heights
Nininger Township
Ravenna Township

Ramsey
Rosemount

St. Paul Park

*Not in MNRRA now.
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The river transportation era in urban development

began with the start of construction on Fort Snelling in

1820 and the subsequent founding of the American Fur

Company post at Mendota in the 1820s.  Traders erected

seasonal posts at other locations in the corridor, but it was

the mid-1830s before any permanent settlement took root.

Prior to 1835, settlements clustered along the river were

either military (Fort Snelling) or commercial (the fur post at

Mendota).  Commercial and military establishments

brought people into a relatively confined space, but neither

could be understood as cities.  The Treaty of 1837 opened

the east bank of the Mississippi, and within five years com-

munities grew up at St. Paul and Cottage Grove.  Urban

growth received a burst of energy with the founding of St.

Paul in 1841.  

Settlement concentrated around Fort Snelling and St.

Paul until the early 1850s, when a combination of factors

led to widespread settlement throughout the corridor.  The

Treaties at Mendota and Traverse des Sioux in 1851 opened

the west bank of the Mississippi to settlement, and the bur-

geoning steamboat trade brought thousands of settlers

annually to Minnesota.  As a result, new towns grew up at

Anoka (1852), Hastings (1852) and Minneapolis (1854), as

did towns that lasted for only a short while (Nininger and

Pine Bend, for example).  (Figure 2.)

FIGURE 2. Panoramic Map of Anoka, 1869.  American Memory Project, Library of Congress. 
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The Civil War and the Dakota Conflict of 1862 stalled

new settlement in the early 1860s, but following the war,

the population boomed and railroads spread across the

region.  The balance of the nineteenth century saw spectacu-

lar growth in short bursts within Minneapolis and St. Paul

and steady growth throughout the portions of the corridor

connected by railroad.  Other places, such as the towns of

Nininger and Pine Bend in Dakota County, were bypassed by

the railroad and, as a consequence, died out by the end of

the 1860s.  

Throughout the river transportation period, residential

settlement in concentrations that could be called urban was

tightly focused at particular points along the river.  St.

Paul’s town center ranged for several blocks on either side of

the Upper and Lower Landings, but the rest of the present

St. Paul riverfront was either unsettled or claimed by isolat-

ed farmers.  The same pattern essentially held true upriver,

with stretches of sparsely settled land separating

Minneapolis and St. Anthony from upriver settlements such

as Anoka and the cluster around Banfil’s Tavern that would

eventually become Fridley.  These towns, as well as places

like Hastings, remained relatively small centers during this

period, established where the shore provided some natural

amenity.  

Much of the shoreline, according to early accounts,

either was marshy and unsuitable for settlement or featured

high bluffs facing the river. Places where small rivers or

creeks joined the Mississippi provided natural settlement

spots, as did, of course, the falls at St. Anthony.

Concentrations of settlement during this period catered to

the new farmers coming into the territory as well as to the

lumbermen and traders.  The settlements developed more or

less according to the natural features of a particular location

and the drive and initiative of the town’s proprietors.

St. Paul can justly be called the first urban center in the

MNRRA corridor.  Legitimate settlement could begin only

after the Dakota ceded their lands east of the Mississippi in

the 1837 treaty.  Some pioneers settled as early as the

1830s on sites across from the fort and as far north as the

present Lake Street Bridge area.  St. Paul started as a settle-

ment just downstream from Fort Snelling, when officers in

charge of that installation cleared it of non-military person-

nel in 1837. In 1837 and 1838 many of these refugees had

settled near a marshy area just downstream from present St.

Paul.  This collection of domiciles was alternatively named

for its topography (“Grand Marais” or Great Marsh) or for its

best known inhabitant, Pierre “Pig’s Eye” Parrant, a popular

whiskey seller.

By 1841 more intentional settlers had joined the

whiskey sellers and refugees from Fort Snelling and other

settlements, and the community had moved to the bluff

between the upper and lower landing.  That same year,

Father Lucien Galtier, a Catholic priest who had been sent

from the Diocese of Dubuque to minister to the fur traders

and growing community in the vicinity of Mendota, estab-

lished a chapel on the bluff and named it for Saint Paul.  The

name stuck, and the community grew quickly and assumed

regional importance as the closest landing to Fort Snelling,

as well as the head of steamboat navigation on the

Mississippi.  When the Territory of Minnesota was estab-

lished in 1849, St. Paul was one of three population cen-

ters.  By the time Minnesota achieved statehood in 1858, it

was chosen as the capital over the lumbering center at

Stillwater and the milling and waterpower concentration at

St. Anthony and Minneapolis.4

As St. Paul grew, settlement centered in three distinct

areas, each with its own character and economic founda-

tion.  The so-called Lower Landing grew up just upstream of

the marsh where Trout Creek and Phalen Creek entered the

Mississippi.  This area was the best natural steamboat land-

ing in the settlement that was located outside the military

reservation.  The Upper Landing developed less than a mile

upstream, below the current Irvine Park neighborhood.

John Irvine began cutting timber for steamboats, as he and

other settlers engaged in some small-scale shaping of the

riverfront in order to create a levee and landing in this vicin-

ity.  The third area concentrated along the road that ran over

the bluff separating the Upper and Lower Landings.  This
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road, which became known as Third Street when the town

was platted in 1847, became the first commercial center of

St. Paul.  Bench Street, which snaked down the bluff, and a

set of stairs connected Third Street to the Lower Landing.  

There were, of course, isolated houses, farms, trading

posts, and whiskey shops located throughout the valley.

Residential development grew up on the bluff downstream

of the Phalen/Trout Creek lowlands as well, with Lyman

Dayton establishing early plats on the bluff that still bears

his name.  All this settlement had visible impact on the

landscape, as architectural historian Larry Millett, among

others, has noted, “To make room for the growing city,

ravines and bottom lands were filled, hills leveled, lakes

drained, streams diverted, and bluffs shaved away.”5

St. Paul was organized as a village on November 1,

1849, and incorporated as a city on March 4, 1854.6 As a

frontier town at the head of navigation in a rapidly expand-

ing region, St. Paul’s growth was explosive.  Contemporary

accounts from the middle 1850s document streets swarm-

ing with people unloaded from the several steamboats a

week that arrived from downriver. Would-be settlers were

warned to bring camping supplies, as a room or a house

was not to be had for any price in the city.  Although St.

Paul never became a sawmilling center like Minneapolis or

Stillwater, six sawmills grew up along the St. Paul riverfront

to satisfy local needs.  The economic contraction of 1857

stopped a period of tremendous growth, as it practically

eliminated credit and made the already scarce hard currency

more difficult to find.  Industry in St. Paul during this peri-

od remained in its infancy.  No railroads or associated facili-

ties developed during this period, and St. Paul lacked the

waterpower to attract industry, as at St. Anthony Falls. 

The village of St. Anthony started on the east side of

the river, near the sites claimed by Franklin Steele for their

industrial potential, as soon as the land was opened to set-

tlement in 1838. A store and sawmill were constructed on

the east bank of the river in 1847-1848, and St. Anthony

“boomed” with the establishment of the Minnesota

Territory in 1849 and the opening of a suspension bridge,

in 1855, to the settlement that became Minneapolis.7

(Figure 3.)

St. Anthony was incorporated as a city on March 3,

1855, and a township was organized for the surrounding

territory on May 11, 1858.  The location saw a number of

plats and names, however, including St. Anthony Falls

Village (platted as part of Ramsey County in 1849 and a

part of that county until March 4, 1856), and St. Anthony

City, platted in 1848-1849 and more popularly known as

“Cheevertown.”8 “Cheeverstown,” or “Cheever’s Landing,”

was named for William Cheever, a New York native gifted

FIGURE 3. Village of St. Anthony, 1851, from downstream.

Minnesota Historical Society. 
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with frontier entrepreneurship and a wry sense of humor.

According to Atwater, Cheever acquired land below the

University of Minnesota, “where he subsequently erected a

farmhouse, and built an observatory on the high bank, over

the entrance of which he placed the legend, ‘Pay your dime

and climb.’”9 Some settlers reached the falls by stagecoach,

although some did make it up the gorge on steamboats to

Cheever’s Landing.10 Throughout the 1850s tourists from

the South came to the Windsor House in St. Anthony for a

respite from the sultry southern summers.  It is probable

that at least some of these travelers on the “fashionable

tour” disembarked at Cheever’s Landing rather than arriv-

ing by stage from St. Paul. The place took on a different

aspect in winter, when, as Atwater later remembered it, “the

Mississippi, its [St. Anthony’s] only medium of connection

with the outside world, was a dreary, trackless barrier of ice

and snow.”11

Minneapolis was founded by Colonel John H. Stevens,

who operated a ferry above St. Anthony Falls.  Stevens built

the first house west of the Mississippi in this area in 1849.

Platting for the town began in 1854, with the town govern-

ment inaugurated on July 20, 1858.  The city was incorpo-

rated on March 6, 1866.  Among the most notable addi-

tions to the city (it did not achieve its present spatial extent

until 1927) was the village of St. Anthony on February 28,

1872.  The name “Minneapolis,” combining “minne” from

the Dakota for “water” and the Greek word “polis” for

“city,” apparently first appeared in print in November 1852.

Charles Hoag, the reputed originator of the name, took it to

George D. Bowman, editor of the St. Anthony Express, who

publicized it.12

The riverfront in St. Anthony and Minneapolis was a

mixture of residential, industrial and commercial land use.

Housing appeared on Nicollet Island as early as the 1840s.

In later periods, as riverfront land became more valuable,

industrial uses crowded out all residential use, except in

particularly undesirable areas such as Bohemian Flats.

Unless buried by later activities, very little may remain

from the earliest decades of development, particularly from

the residential districts that lined the river until the rail-

roads and expanding mills pushed them out.13

In 1850 Henry Bailly established Hastings, even

though there had been no treaty relinquishing Indian title

to land west of the Mississippi.  Until the treaty could be rat-

ified by the U.S. Senate (which would not take place until

1852), there could be no legal occupancy except by licensed

fur traders.  Knowing the potential of this site at the falls of

the Vermillion River and its juncture with the Mississippi,

Bailly obtained a fur traders’ license and set up a post.  The

area had been known as “Oliver’s Grove (sometimes erro-

neously shortened to “Olive Grove”), because Lt. William G.

Oliver had stopped here when ice forced him ashore as he

ascended the river in the fall of 1819.14

Once settlement started, the village grew rapidly.  The

first year of permanent settlement was 1853, and the follow-

ing year entrepreneurs started a hotel, blacksmith shop, ferry,

and established a wharf on the levee for shipping farm prod-

ucts.  After its founders drew lots, the town received its name

from the middle name of Henry Hastings Sibley, one of the

leading citizens of territorial Minnesota.  In 1855-1856,

milling of flour and lumber began, using the power from the

Vermillion River.  According to Neill, 1856 marked the high

point in this period of rapid growth.  Between the opening of

navigation and July 1, 73 stone and frame houses were con-

structed, along with 100 temporary structures.  There was

certainly the population to fill these buildings; the winter

1855-1856 census counted 1,918 people in Hastings, up

from 650 the year before and a twentyfold increase over the

1854 population of about 100.15 (Figure 4.)

In 1851 settlers established permanent housing and

other improvements at Anoka, a former fur trading post

near the junction of the Mississippi and Rum Rivers.  The

name “anoka” apparently derives from a Dakota term for

“on both sides” and refers to the settlement’s location on

both sides of the Rum River at its junction with the

Mississippi.16 Brothers named Peter and Francis Patoille

established a trading post at the point where a 15-foot drop

in the Rum necessitated a portage on early trading routes.
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In 1851 Henry M. Rice and his brother Orrin made perma-

nent improvements, which by 1853 included a store and

houses on the river’s east side.  A dam and sawmill soon fol-

lowed, and in the mid-1850s the government built a bridge

across the Rum.  A flour mill was built at Anoka in 1854,

and growing mill development throughout the 1860s

attracted the attention of Minneapolis miller W. D.

Washburn, who bought the complex around 1870.17

Fridley has one of the more unusual political histories

of any town in the corridor.  John Banfil, the first state audi-

tor and the first postmaster in this part of the state, estab-

lished a tavern near the mouth of Rice Creek around 1848.

A year later, Henry M. Rice became interested in the site and

began farming nearby.  The area was originally designated

Manomin County by the territorial legislature in 1857.  In

1870 residents petitioned to be added to Anoka County as a

township, retaining the name Manomin, derived from the

Ojibwa term for “wild rice.” It received its present name

only in 1879, for Abram McCormick Fridley.  It remained

largely agricultural throughout this period.18

The town of Mendota is thought of by some as “the

birthplace of Minnesota.” Henry Sibley’s stone house here,

built in 1835, became a gathering place for politicians,

artists, scientists, and adventurers.  The settlement began as

a commercial venture by the American Fur Company’s

Duncan Campbell, and became the central trading post for

the region.  Alexis Bailly, Sr., had charge of the post until

1834, when Sibley arrived.19 As distinctive as Mendota’s

history to about 1850 is, its subsequent story is less well

known.  In 1866 the railroad came through town, establish-

ing an alternative transportation mode between the

Minnesota River Valley and St. Paul and, for all practical pur-

poses, eliminating Mendota’s role as a regional trade center.

FIGURE 4. Hastings, 1850.  Minnesota Historical Society. 
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Grey Cloud Township lies on the east side of the

Mississippi, just south of Cottage Grove.  Grey Cloud is an

island named for Mahkpia-hoto-win (Grey Cloud Woman), a

significant Dakota woman from the fur trade era.  Her hus-

band, Hazen Mooers, operated a trading post on the island

for a time, and it has been the site of sporadic native settle-

ment and planned cities.20

The city of Nininger, the site of which was in present-

day Nininger Township, is one of the most celebrated mid-

nineteenth century towns in Minnesota.  Nininger attracted

considerable attention from investors as far away as Chicago

and New York City.  The city was platted in 1856 and

named for John Nininger, brother-in-law to Governor

Alexander Ramsey and friend of the politician, author, and

orator Ignatius Donnelly.  Nininger and his associates

“talked up” the city to the point that it had nearly 1,000

residents when incorporated in 1858.  The booming com-

munity claimed seven to eight merchants, three to four

blacksmiths and wagon shops, a plow factory, a sash and

door factory, six saloons, three hotels, a drugstore, a physi-

cian and an unusually large assortment of lawyers and real

estate dealers.  By 1880, however, its population had

declined to just 239, a loss attributed in part to the fact that

the railroad bypassed the town and took regional growth to

other cities (such as Hastings) and partly to the scarcity of

hard currency on the frontier.  These causes made Nininger

only the most spectacular of the “boom and bust” cities in

Minnesota’s early years, or, as one writer put it, “The period

of Nininger’s founding and growth is an interesting, but not

altogether unique, story.”21

The historic settlement pattern in Denmark Township,

located in Washington County at the juncture of the

Mississippi and St. Croix Rivers, resembles that of Nininger

in some important respects, in that both are the locations of

failed early cities.  The causes of their demise are substan-

tially the same—failure to attract a rail line and thus keep

up with regional transportation patterns—but the particu-

lars are different in important ways.  The settlement center

for Denmark Township was Point Douglas, settled in 1839

and named for Illinois Senator Stephen A. Douglas, but not

formally platted until 10 years later.  The post office estab-

lished at that site in July 1840 was the oldest in Minnesota

outside Fort Snelling.  The village was an important early

regional center “at that time and for a number of years the

depot where all supplies were purchased for the interior.”22

Like its downstream neighbor Hastings, Point Douglas

became the location of both sawmills and gristmills, a ferry

across the Mississippi River, and a hotel.  As late as 1881,

Point Douglas warehouses still held in excess of 100,000

bushels of grain, but the town did not develop the diverse

commercial base that sustained Hastings.23 Much of the

Point Douglas site lies outside MNRRA’s boundary, but

archeological and historic research is necessary to determine

if a portion lies within the boundary.

Railroad Era (1862-1940s)
The railroad era comes with the emergence and then domi-

nance of the railroad as the transportation system that

served the Twin Cities area.  After the first railroad line in

Minnesota connected St. Paul and Minneapolis in 1862, the

new transportation mode quickly expanded and took over

the region’s economy and defined its geographic develop-

ment.  The impact of the railroad’s coming can hardly be

overstated.  It changed both form and function of particular

spaces.  St. Paul’s Lowertown, for example, transformed

from a wealthy residential neighborhood to the city’s ware-

house area, as the Lower Landing entered its prime period as

a transfer point for goods onto rail cars headed for the

prairies.  Likewise, railroads filled the valley of Trout and

Phalen Creeks to raise the rail bed out of the floodplain and

afford trains an easier ascent up the slope north of the river.  

As Nininger, bypassed by the railroad, withered and

slowly died off as a population center, the rail transportation

to Chicago spurred the 1886 creation of South St. Paul as a

stockyard town.  In fact, the story of South St. Paul may be

seen as a microcosm of this period’s developments.  Although

located on the Mississippi, the river was a secondary factor in

the city’s development and transportation network.  Cattle
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came in and meat went out by rail.  Meat processors did,

however, employ the river to carry away animal wastes.  

At the beginning of the railroad era, the population dis-

tribution within the corridor was centered in the cities of

Minneapolis and St. Paul.  Minneapolis in 1865 was home

to approximately 4,700 people, while St. Paul’s population

stood at approximately 13,000.24 The railroad era saw

these two cities grow explosively, in a series of “booms” fol-

lowed by periods of relative stability.  Between 1865 and

1880, Minneapolis grew from 4,700 to 47,000, while St.

Paul’s population tripled to more than 41,000.  By 1900,

St. Paul had quadrupled again to 163,000, while

Minneapolis had grown even faster to 202,000.25

With the establishment of railroads, land uses along

urban riverfronts changed dramatically, as industrial and

commercial uses replaced residential land uses.  In part, this

was a matter of economics: riverfront land became too valu-

able for housing.  In part, it was a matter of aesthetics: river-

front land was too close to dangerous and dirty industrial

developments for all but the very poorest inhabitants.  And,

in part, the transition was a measure of the growing central-

ization of regional transportation patterns on the railroad.

By the turn of the century, river navigation (other than tim-

ber) had all but ceased, and railroads were carrying passen-

gers and freight from Minneapolis and St. Paul to destina-

tions all over the region.  

In addition to altering land use patterns in existing

urban areas, the development of rail networks throughout

Minnesota served to centralize the population.  Hamlets off

the rail alignment withered, disappeared or moved to more

favorable locations on the new lines.  Moreover, the develop-

ment of shops and other ancillary functions in some cities

and towns guaranteed a certain level of employment and

economic development.  The result was the elimination of

numerous small hamlets along the river and the concentra-

tion of population and economic resources in fewer places.

Within the city of Minneapolis, river-oriented residen-

tial development concentrated in three areas and emerged at

different times.  The “Gateway Residential Complex” at the

west end of the Hennepin Avenue Bridge grew up with the

emergence of Minneapolis in the 1850s.26 It was moved out

by the 1880s, as railroads and other industrial land uses

came to dominate the riverfront at the falls.  Joseph

Stipanovich has written that Poles lived along the riverfront

in northeast Minneapolis and that residential districts

emerged along the river in north Minneapolis, as workers

moved close to their places of employment in the sawmills.27

The most romanticized community along the river-

front in Minneapolis was “Bohemian Flats,” located on the

river bottom flats below the University of Minnesota West

Bank campus (Figure 6, following page). The flats communi-

ty emerged in the 1880s and existed until the city cleared

the land of residences in the early 1930s.  Many in this

neighborhood subsisted on wages earned at nearby brew-

eries, liberally supplemented by gathering lumber and logs

that had washed over the falls from the dozens of sawmills

upstream (Figure 5).  According to Millett, a skilled gatherer

could pull in as much as 300 cords of wood in a good year.

Although termed “bohemian,” in fact, people of many

nationalities lived in the small collection of wooden houses

FIGURE 5. Gathering wood at Bohemian Flats, 1887. Minnesota

Historical Society.
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along dirt streets running parallel to the river.  Regular

spring floods kept investment in larger buildings to a mini-

mum, although the flats still boasted a church, a store and

other nonresidential buildings.  The St. Anthony Water

Power Company owned the land at Bohemian Flats and in

the 1880s rented house lots for $12 per year.28

With 1,200 people by 1900, Bohemian Flats probably

ranked as the largest river flats settlement in the MNRRA

corridor, including the Italian neighborhood on the Upper

Levee in St. Paul and the community of, first, Jewish and,

later, Latin American residents on St. Paul’s West Side.  All

these communities shared a common history and spatial

arrangement.  Home to the poorest and most recent of the

area’s immigrant populations, they typically featured small

wooden houses, board fences, cows, some stores, saloons,

perhaps a brick apartment building (where investors felt the

floods would not harm them) and quite often a church.  The

river flats settlements grew most rapidly during the region-

al population and economic boom of the 1880s.  By and

large, these settlements disappeared with various urban

renewal schemes after World War II.  Minneapolis cleared

most of Bohemian Flats during the 1930s, when it began

plans for a municipal barge docking facility on the site.  Not

until 1963, however, did the last resident vacate the flats,

allowing it to become a coal terminal.29

The railroad period saw a mixed pattern of residential

development away from the downtown center in

Minneapolis.  For the most part, however, the riverfront

upstream from St. Anthony Falls was industrialized by the

1890s.30 Rising land prices pushed out even prosperous

owners with large houses.  Immediately around the falls, the

land use conversion was total.  Nicollet Island became the

site of fashionable homes beginning in the 1870s, but grad-

ually the island became separated into distinct industrial,

commercial, and residential zones.  Industrial development

completely replaced the large houses along the bluffs on the

river’s west side, just below the falls, by the 1880s.31

FIGURE 6. Bohemian Flats, 1880.  Minnesota Historical Society.
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Further downstream from the falls, residential develop-

ment assumed a middle class look.  Beginning in the 1880s,

at the suggestion of the renowned landscape architect

H.W.S. Cleveland, the Minneapolis Park Board began buying

tracts of land along the river between Riverside Park (near

the present University of Minnesota West Bank campus) and

Minnehaha Park to the south.32 The presence of parkland,

coupled with the topographical pattern that put the river at

the bottom of a 100-foot gorge, helped create an attractive

neighborhood.  This area, comprising the present Seward,

Longfellow, and Cedar-Riverside neighborhoods on the west

side of the river, remains poorly understood in terms of its

precise historical development.  

A number of distinct river communities also developed

within St. Paul during the late nineteenth and early twenti-

eth centuries.  The Upper Levee and West Side Flats both

solidified and expanded during this period, as earlier scat-

tered settlement saw a large population influx in the 1880s

(Figure 7).33 Both of these communities originated as squat-

ter settlements on land unattractive to anyone who could

afford to live elsewhere.  In contrast, the Donnelley atlas of

1892 shows platted subdivisions in the Highwood area,

with curving streets indicating either a steep bluff or an

intent for a picturesque suburban enclave.  Although full

development of Highwood would only come after World

War II, its origins as a settlement began as a railroad-era

amenity suburb that took advantage of the views offered

from the bluffs south of downtown St. Paul and from the

Daytons Bluff neighborhood.34 Farther north along the river

in St. Paul, near the border with Minneapolis, the Merriam

Park neighborhood became established.  Like Highwood and

Reserve Township immediately to the south, Merriam Park

was annexed by the city in 1887, bringing St. Paul approxi-

mately to its current spatial extent.  Reserve Township, cur-

rently the St. Paul neighborhoods of Macalester-Groveland

and Highland Park, was organized in 1858 but remained

largely farmland until the 1950s.35

Writing in 1875, St. Paul historian J. Fletcher

Williams summarized St. Paul’s evolving relation to the

river: “of late years, the opening of navigation has ceased to

be of any importance or interest.  Our railroads have

changed all that.” St. Paul early established a rail connec-

tion to the Minnesota River valley and from there to the

opening wheat fields of the Red River Valley and the

Dakotas.36 This period saw other changes in St. Paul’s rela-

tion to the river as well.  Dr. Justus Ohage purchased Harriet

Island (government lot 6) from 20 landowners and con-

veyed it to the city in 1900 for public recreation.  At

Harriet Island’s opening on June 9, 1900, the 40-acre

island had paths, two pavilions, and a bathhouse.  In 1929

the island and its facilities were transferred to the St. Paul

Parks Department, and subsequent work on the island by

Depression-era public relief crews included the construction

of the existing pavilion, designed by St. Paul’s city architect

Clarence W. Wigington.37

FIGURE 7. Little Italy on the Upper Levee, St. Paul, 1908.  Minnesota

Historical Society.
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Atlases of Minneapolis and St. Paul, which began to be

published more systematically in the 1880s, give a some-

times-misleading picture of residential growth during this

period.  Often riverfront areas are shown as platted, when

in fact housing was not built until much later. For example,

Crosby Farm, located on the floodplain below present-day

Highland Park in St. Paul, was platted in 10-acre lots early

in the twentieth century, although the farm had very little

non-farm development at the time it was made part of the

city’s park system in the 1950s.38

During the railroad era, land use and residential pat-

terns became more economically and socially stratified.

Industry took over much riverfront, particularly near the

downtowns of St. Paul and Minneapolis.  With industry

came noise, disagreeable smells, and danger, to add to the

seasonal threat from floods.  Historian Larry Millett

describes the resulting class separation:

The hierarchy of altitude was especially strong in the

Twin Cities in the late nineteenth century.  While the

rich resided in their mansions on Summit Hill in St. Paul

and Lowry Hill in Minneapolis, the poorest Twin Citians

were tucked away (out of sight and mind) in deep holes

like Swede Hollow or on the floodplains below the river

bluffs.  Isolated from the city by barriers of language, cul-

ture, and geography, these enclaves were often identified

with a particular ethnic group, although most were actu-

ally quite diverse in their makeup.39

Historical geographers David Lanegran and Paul

Donald Hesterman argue that the river assumed a double

character to area residents during this period.  For the

wealthy, who could afford to move uphill away from the

grime and danger, the river became an aesthetic amenity,

with river views a large part of the attractiveness of places

such as St. Paul’s Summit Avenue.  Yet areas close to the

river grew unattractive and became the home of the city’s

poorest residents.  Enclaves such as Nicollet Island in

Minneapolis, where an upper middle class community flour-

ished in the midst of the chaos of the St. Anthony Falls

industrial area, seemed the exception to the rule.  The rela-

tive isolation of the island, perched on a limestone shelf out

of the reach of all but the highest floodwaters, may have

contributed to its anomalous position.40

Outside the major cities of St. Paul and Minneapolis,

several fairly distinctive patterns began to emerge.  Some

locations did not adapt to the new transportation system

and declined during this period.  Some places that had early

assumed regional prominence retained some importance but

began to be overshadowed by Minneapolis and St. Paul.

Hastings serves as a prime example of this pattern.  Other

places, such as Richfield (which once bordered on the river)

and Newport, assumed a distinctive importance in relation

to the central cities, often as vacation spots.  Yet other cities,

such as the industrial town of South St. Paul, emerged dur-

ing this period as a direct response to the new railroad trans-

portation pattern.  

Edward Duffield Neill’s History of Dakota County and

the City of Hastings (1881) provides a vivid sketch of
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cut meat, made South St. Paul one of the winners.  Alpheus

Beede Stickney of St. Paul formed the Minnesota and

Northwestern Railroad to establish a line between St. Paul

and Iowa, which would then connect to lines running to

Chicago.  When the line opened in 1885, the trip between

St. Paul and Chicago was reduced to 13 hours, 30 minutes.

The railroad and the river location just downstream from

St. Paul were an important part of the marketing of “South

Park,” as the residential development was initially called.

Dakota County gave land for industry, particularly car

shops for the railroad.  With James J. Hill as one of his back-

ers, Stickney incorporated the St. Paul Union Stockyards on

June 30, 1886, with the stockyards to be built on 260

swampy riverfront acres that needed to be filled before con-

struction could take place.  Separating from West St. Paul

Township, South St. Paul was formed in 1887 and saw a

period of rapid growth in the 1890s, as its stockyards

expanded to include meat processing and slaughterhouses.45

The Modern River
Automobiles increasingly defined the urban and suburban

landscape after World War II.  Since the general end date for

this study is about 1950, this era is not examined in depth.

The central purpose of this study has been to provide the

context for sites that could merit inclusion in the National

Register.  Unless sites are of exceptional significance, they

must be older than 50 years to be listed on the Register.

This means that most properties constructed after the early

1950s are not yet eligible.46 Nevertheless, a few comments

are in order.  (Figure 8.)

After World War II, the fabric of urban settlement in

the river corridor underwent significant change, as the com-

bination of growing population and developing regional

highway systems pushed population rapidly away from the

central cities.  This development, popularly characterized as

“sprawl,” was responsible for the conversion of farm coun-

try in places such as Coon Rapids into acres of suburban

development.  At the same time, the residential pattern that

Lanegran and Martin call “suburban in city” filled in the

Hastings at that point in its history.  Hastings certainly

impressed Neill (or whoever was actually conducting the

research on the town; see endnote 2), as it had attained a

population of some 4,000 within three decades of its estab-

lishment.  The city had an air of enduring permanence; as

the writer noted, “It appears to the eye as if having been

endowed with perpetual prosperity and as if having always

existed in the same form as today . . . it is a type of western

achievement.”41 Impressive though that achievement may

have been, the writer felt that it could have been greater: “It

is scarcely doubtful, that that city (Hastings) would have

had a much greater growth without them (railroads).”42

Thus, within 50 years of the first permanent American set-

tlement in the MNRRA corridor, new transportation systems

were creating “winners” and “losers” among the region’s

communities as they vied for prominence.

Some places in the MNRRA corridor that grew up dur-

ing the last third of the nineteenth century achieved their

greatest visibility as satellites of the larger cities.  Richfield,

a farming township that had been established in 1858 with

the rest of the corridor west of the river, became a tourist

attraction in the 1880s.  Hotels, landscaped gardens, a new

railroad depot (the “Princess Depot”) and pleasure drives all

lined the vicinity of the river near its junction with

Minnehaha Creek.  Now part of the city of Minneapolis, the

area surrounding Minnehaha Falls became a formally desig-

nated park in 1885.43 There was a different impetus for

growth in what is now the community of Newport.

Originally the site of a mission to the Dakota (1837-42), a

railway village called Red Rock grew up there in the 1860s.

In 1869 the village became the site of summer religious

revivals held by the Red Rock Camp Meeting Association, an

affiliate of the Methodist Episcopal Church.  Red Rock

derived its name from a five-foot-long red rock, painted with

stripes and venerated by the Dakota during their residence

in the area.  The rock was formerly on the bank of the river;

it was moved in the early twentieth century to a point near

the railroad station.44

Railroads, by allowing the rapid transport of freshly-
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Highwood and Highland Park sections of St. Paul, complet-

ing the residential urban growth within the city limits of

the area’s largest cities.47

Urban development in the MNRRA corridor represents

many processes.  Where cities began, how quickly and fully

they developed, and their relation to the river varied in

important ways.  Some cities began as river towns, some as

railroad towns and others as suburban communities.  Some

feature all three types of development.  The MNRRA corri-

dor’s communities possess sites and structures that repre-

sent each era, each type of growth.  These sites offer an

opportunity to educate residents and visitors about the

area’s urban development.  

Geology, geography, Native American history, the deci-

sions of explorers and traders, and the focus on a variety of

economic activities all played a role in how the MNRRA cor-

ridor’s cities formed and grew.  St. Anthony Falls and the

gorge downstream helped make Minneapolis the nation’s

leading flour and timber milling center and dictated that St.

Paul become the effective head of navigation until the

1960s.  Native American occupation of lands east and west

of the river determined where and how fast settlers moved

into the area.  Zebulon Pike’s 1805 decision to acquire the

Fort Snelling reservation determined urban development in

and around the reserve for decades, and the federal govern-

ment still occupies lands acquired by Pike.  Early settlement

along the river and the river’s nearly level, floodplain grade

drew railroads.  The railroads then began altering the

processes of urban development, as the streetcar and auto-

mobile would do subsequently. 

The Twin Cities metropolitan area is the largest urban

center between Chicago and Denver.  Urban development in

the metropolitan river corridor is significant not only

regionally but nationally.  The history of industrialization,

transportation, settlement and evolving economies is

indicative of the Area’s uniqueness and illustrative of broad-

er regional and national processes.  

FIGURE 8. East River Road, Fridley, 1945.  The Northern Pump

Company is the large building complex.  Minneapolis Star Journal

Tribune Photograph, Minnesota Historical Society.



FIGURE 1. Contemplating the river.  Wingdams below Nininger, Minn., 1891.  Photo by Henry P. Bosse.  Nininger lies just above Hastings, on the west

side of the Mississippi River.
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Mis-Placed
People care most about places they can relate to.

Unfortunately, too many people have forgotten what their

connection to historic sites within the corridor is, or have

not had the opportunity to learn about them.  Some people

may be new residents, from some other city, state or country.

Or, the people who had the direct connection may have

passed away long ago.  The more historically distant a place

or event is, the harder people may find it to connect to that

place.  They cannot feel the sense of place people who once

lived there felt.  In many cases direct connection is no longer

possible.  No jobs for log drivers remain.  The water-powered

flour and timber mills are gone, as are the Dakota villages,

the natural river and the natural falls.  People today cannot

imagine the anticipation and excitement generated by the

arrival of the first steamboat at Hastings or St. Paul or

Anoka in the 1850s.  (Granted, the more ancient a place is,

the more romantic or mysterious many people find it.)  The

challenge today is to recover a sense of place, a sense of con-

tinuity.  The evaluation, preservation and interpretation of

historic sites and places offer a way to meet this challenge.

Recovering a Sense of Place
For residents of the Twin Cities metropolitan area, the

MNRRA corridor is like a big, old house.  It has many famil-

iar rooms that they visit often and know intimately.  Other

T
he Dakota warriors who beached their

canoes at the mouth of Phalen Creek,

below Daytons Bluff, in 1680, added

another story to a deeply storied place.  They landed in the

shadow of ancient Native American burials on the bluff

above and just upstream of the future village site of

Kaposia, which their descendants would inhabit over a

century later.  Their French captives heralded the coming

of Europeans, the impending transformation of the river

and the addition of many more stories.  Neither the

Dakota nor the French could have imagined the fill, build-

ings, mills, railroad yards, and roads that would obliterate

Phalen Creek.  

Hundreds of places that harbor stories as rich and

deep lie throughout the MNRRA corridor.  When identified,

preserved and interpreted, they possess the power to evoke

a sense of romance and adventure, disgust and regret,

amazement and community pride.  They are places with

the ability to teach children and adults about how the envi-

ronment, landscape and economy of the place in which

they live or are just visiting came to be, about what has

been lost and what has been gained.  They are places that

define the identity of many communities within the

MNRRA corridor.  This study has identified many such

places, but many others remain to be discovered and have

their stories told.

Epi logue

Novel and Familiar Places
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rooms they do not know as well.  Some contain deep closets

that they have never explored.  Some hide old trunks, treas-

ure chests, that they have yet to open.  Each one reveals

more about the people who have lived in the house.  The

smells each one emits, the texture of old clothes, the sight

of tattered pictures of people they know, though much

younger, and people whose names and faces are a mystery

give them a deeper appreciation of the place they call home.

The sounds of an old record (if they can find a place to play

it) bring alive the voices and culture of another time.  Their

place is more than they knew it to be, and they value it

more.  By their association with the contents of each trunk,

they are more than they thought they were. 

The MNRRA corridor holds places with stories that can

evoke all the senses.  Imagine the sights and sounds of the

glacial River Warren as it plummeted over its limestone bed

in St. Paul some 12,000 years ago.  People can see that lime-

stone strewn along the valley floor or hanging at the bluff

tops through much of the valley below St. Anthony Falls.

They can walk up and touch it.  They can crumble in their

hands the fragile St. Peter Sandstone that underlies the lime-

stone and allowed the falls to retreat.  They may not want to

imagine the smell of a river so rancid a person would bury

her nose in her coat when passing by.  Yet by remembering,

they may commit themselves to making the Mississippi

River cleaner and healthier.  Try to imagine the river “free

from everything that would render it impure, either to the

sight or taste,” as Stephen Long described it in 1817.1

People can learn to appreciate what a place meant to

someone long ago, and in doing so discover that a place

holds a richer and deeper meaning than they had thought.

David Glassberg, in his article “Public History and the

Study of Memory,” suggests that “By and large tourists look

for novelty in a landscape, what is not back home, whereas

local residents look at the landscape as a web of memory

sites and social interactions.”2 Historic sites and landscapes

in the MNRRA corridor possess the novelty to reward

tourists for leaving their armchairs and the continuity to

ground residents new and old.

Glassberg contends that “History offers ways . . . to ori-

ent oneself in the environment.” Different types of historic

sites, he says, “connect stories of past events to a particular

present environment.”3 He uses environment in the broad-

est sense, meaning one’s surroundings.  For people sitting

on the riverbank anywhere along the corridor, the environ-

ment they see is far different from that which existed one

hundred years ago (Figure 1).  Residents and visitors are sur-

prised to learn that their predecessors could wade across the

Mississippi during low water.  The idea of a steamboat with

a draft of only 24 inches grinding on a gravel bar near St.

Paul or Zebulon Pike walking his boats up the shallow,

frigid, October river above St. Anthony Falls seems far-

fetched.  They see the river rise during floods, but they do

not comprehend how the dams keep it from falling to its

natural low-water stage.  People have forgotten why naviga-

tion boosters pressed so hard to change the river.  And they

may not understand what has been lost and what has been

gained.  Understanding historic sites and their historical

contexts is not just about neat places; it is about under-

standing how we got to where we are today.

Place stories reveal how the area’s relationship to the

river has changed over the centuries.  As the relationship

between the Mississippi River and its inhabitants evolved,

people treated it differently, and their concern for how they

treated it changed.  To the Dakota, the river was a highway

and a source of natural resources, which they did not take

for granted.  The river and places along it (the Red Rock and

St. Anthony Falls, for example) possessed spirits they prayed

to.  Steamboat pilots offered their own prayers to a river

they believed had superhighway potential, if adequately

transformed.  Lumber and flour millers valued the river as a

transportation route and for the waterpower offered, and

not just at St. Anthony Falls but throughout the corridor.

Transforming the river’s physical and ecological character

was unquestionably good to them.  To railroad builders, the

river valley offered a level grade but little more.  People

began turning their backs to the river.  It became a conven-

ient gutter for their mounting quantities of personal and
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Congress declared that “There is a national interest in the

preservation, protection, and enhancement of these

resources for the benefit of the people of the United States.”5

Through research, management and protection of historic

resources, and with interpretation, the National Park

Service can help MNRRA communities better celebrate their

unique and common heritage and share that heritage with

regional, national and even international audiences.

industrial wastes.  As people fouled the river, they tried to

get even farther away.  The beaches and bathhouses at

Harriet Island closed.  Few could stand the stench assaulting

them if they tried to boat on the river, and some found it dif-

ficult to drive near it.  To the residents of Little Italy, the

West Side, Bohemian Flats and other floodplain communi-

ties, the polluted river meant cheap land.  They stayed by it,

weaving new stories.  When Locks and Dams 1 and 2

stopped the pollution from flowing away, St. Paul became

the first city on the Mississippi River to build a sewage

treatment plant (on the village site of Kaposia).  As the

water has improved, people have turned to face the river

again.  A new view of the river is evolving, and the river’s

history is playing an important role.

Glassberg believes that the river’s history can help “res-

idents and visitors alike to see what ordinarily cannot be

seen: both memories attached to places and the larger social

and economic processes that shaped how the places were

made.”4 Here Glassberg is referring to the historic context

of a place.  Because it would be impossible for this study to

detail the individual history of each historically important

place, the focus has been on the historic contexts within

which many places in the MNRRA corridor gain their histor-

ical significance.  The Mississippi River we see, hear, touch,

smell and taste (many Twin Cities residents drink river

water from their taps) is defined by past social and econom-

ic processes and by the people caught up in those processes.

This is true of the land along the river as well.  

This historic resources study reveals the great variety

and depth of historic places within the corridor.  It is just a

beginning.  Communicating the stories of those places to

the corridor’s visitors and residents in a way that helps

them connect to the river is an important and challenging

task.  Identifying and preserving important historic sites

and places so that the National Park Service and others can

interpret them is equally important and challenging.  As

Congress found and as this study has reinforced, the

MNRRA corridor holds many “nationally significant” his-

torical and cultural resources.  Because of their significance,

FIGURE 2. Detail, Wingdams below Nininger, Minn., 1891.  By Henry

P. Bosse.  St. Paul District, Corps of Engineers.
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project with the Corps instead of Congress and makes the Corps a proactive
proponent of the project, which she does not demonstrate they were.
Granted, Mackenzie repeatedly called for locks and dams.  Kane jumps to the
construction of Lock and Dam 2, without discussing who made the final
push for the project.  

90 Annual Report, 1908, pp. 530, 1649-50; Annual Report, 1907, pp.
1578-79.

91 Major Francis R. Shunk to Minneapolis Mayor J. C. Haynes, February 17,
1909.  St. Paul District records, St. Paul, Minnesota.
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Corps to build the lock but made the Chattanooga Tennessee River Power
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Chapter 8
1 The literature on the history of the Twin Cities is voluminous and much of
it addresses, however indirectly, the physical growth of the cities.  Not all,
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opment of neighborhoods, developers’ plats, and other staples of land use
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(Bloomington, Minnesota: Voyageur, 1983); Paul Donald Hesterman, Interests,
Values, and Public Policy for an Urban River: A History of Development Along the
Mississippi River in Saint Paul, Minnesota (Ph.D. dissertation, University of
Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1985); Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul:
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History 21:1 (1986): 3-22; June Drenning Holmquist, ed., They Chose
Minnesota:  A Survey of the State’s Ethnic Groups (St. Paul, Minnesota:
Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1981); David Lanegran, “The
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Study of Interpretive Potentials (unpublished report submitted to the Ramsey
County Historical Society and the National Endowment for the Humanities,
1988), pp. 37-102; Judith A. Martin and David Lanegran, Where We Live:  The
Residential Districts of Minneapolis and Saint Paul (Minneapolis, Minnesota:
Published by the University of Minnesota Press in association with the Center
for Urban and Regional Affairs, University of Minnesota, 1983); Larry,
Millett, Lost Twin Cities (St. Paul, Minnesota: Minnesota Historical Society
Press, 1992); Edward Duffield Neill, “St. Paul and Its Environs,” Minnesota
History v. 30 (1940):204-19; Warren Upham, Minnesota Geographic Names,
Their Origin and Historic Significance (St. Paul, 1969; reprint edition); J.
Fletcher Williams, A History of the City of St. Paul to 1875 (St. Paul, 1876;
reprint, Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1983).

A special notation must be made of the work of the Presbyterian minister
Edward Duffield Neill.  Neill was surely the most prolific early historian of
the state, being listed as a principal author of dozens of books on a variety of
subjects.  Four of these have been basic to the research undertaken for this
study: History of Hennepin County and the City of Minneapolis (Minneapolis,
Minnesota: North Star Publishing, 1881), History of the Upper Mississippi
Valley (North Star Publishing, 1881), History of Dakota County and the City of
Hastings (Minneapolis, Minnesota: North Star Publishing, 1881), and History
of Ramsey County and the City of St. Paul (Minneapolis, Minnesota: North Star
Publishing, 1881).  The similarities between these volumes extend beyond
their titles and publication dates.  Each volume, compiled by George E. Warner
and Charles M. Foote, has a nearly identical Table of Contents. Neill con-
tributed the first essay “Explorers and Pioneers of Minnesota,” and J. Fletcher
Williams followed with a year-by-year compilation of significant facts in the
state’s history between 1858 and 1881.  The following chapters varied slight-
ly from volume to volume but typically included an account of the Civil War
record of men from that county, a brief summary of the county’s leading
lawyers, its chief events, and other notations.  The bulk of each volume,
though, and the sections most directly important for this study, are the
detailed descriptions of the establishment and early settlement of the cities
and townships (“towns” in the late nineteenth century usage) of each county.
A great deal of the settlement story for this area, at least until around 1880, is
contained in these chapters.

The limitations of these books as analytical history or the “full story” are
obvious.  For example, women hardly appear at all; there is an implicitly
“Manifest Destiny” ideology to the books that treats Native Americans as obsta-
cles to “civilization,” and, once conquered, as objects of nostalgia.  Town settle-
ments are treated as heroic narratives of commercial enterprises and progres-
sions of industrial development.  This is not the place to discuss the reasons for
these patterns and biases, nor has there been time to conduct investigations
that would correct and enhance the pictures they depict.  Their use in the pres-
ent study should be understood as sources of important detail on one version of
the past and the Euro-American settlement of the MNRRA corridor

2 Some explanation of this typology is in order.  The historical and geographi-
cal literature defining towns, cities, population centers, etc., is large and com-
plex.  For the purposes of this study, a population center is considered as a
group of dwellings clustered more tightly than the surrounding agricultural
residence pattern and usually focusing on some non-residential establishment,
perhaps a school, church, or post office, but often a commercial establishment
such as a store or tavern.  “Urban Centers” are understood as those places with
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Neill, Hennepin, p. 299, says that a Joseph Holt began operating a ferry at
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Anoka and Champlin or Holt owned the Elm Creek and Anoka Ferry Company.
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“Crossings,” Over the Years, 31:1 (Dakota County Historical Society,
September 1991):5, say the bridge opened in 1859. Dorothy Goth, ed., St.
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Depot (1884) is among the best evidence of the early transportation context.”
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a sufficient concentration of commercial enterprises to result in a degree of
specialization and perhaps spatial ordering into a “commercial district” or
“downtown.”

Research for this study clearly indicates that the relative importance of a
particular population center changed dramatically over time and in relation to
other centers.  For example, Nininger, now a semi-urban enclave between St. Paul
and Hastings, was once a substantial center with a population of over 1,000.  By
contrast, the present municipality of Coon Rapids did not exist until 1952,
when the Village of Coon Rapids was formed from Anoka Township.  The present
study is intended to be more descriptive than analytical; therefore, the categories
have been developed as a rudimentary attempt to sort out the dominant popula-
tion threads throughout the region during the study period.
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